CASE NO. SC01-1718 LOWER COURT CASE NO. 89-2165

GEORGE MICHAEL HODGES,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MICHAEL P. REITER Florida Bar No. 0320234 Capital Collateral Counsel -Northern Region

BRET B. STRAND Florida Bar No. 0780431 Assistant CCC-NR 1533 S. Monroe Street Tallahassee, FL 32301 (850) 488-7200

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Hodges was charged by indictment dated February 22, 1989, with one count of first degree murder in the death of Betty Ricks (R. 806). On March 22, 1989, a superseding indictment was filed, again charging Mr. Hodges with one count of first degree murder (R. 815). Mr. Hodges pleaded not guilty to the charge.

Mr. Hodges' capital jury trial commenced on July 10, 1989. On July 13, 1989, the jury found Mr. Hodges guilty of first degree murder (R. 650).

The following day, the penalty phase was conducted. While the jury deliberated, Mr. Hodges attempted to commit suicide in his holding cell. The court ordered a competency evaluation to determine if Mr. Hodges was competent to be sentenced (R. 890-893). Out of Mr. Hodges' presence, the jury recommended a sentence of death by a vote of ten (10) to two (2) (R. 885).

On August 9, 1989, the court held a sentencing hearing (R. 960-978). The next day, the trial court imposed the sentence of death, finding two (2) aggravating factors and no statutory mitigating factors (906-908).

On direct appeal, this Court affirmed the conviction and the death sentence. <u>Hodges v. State</u>, 595 So. 2d 929 (Fla. 1992).

Thereafter, the United States Supreme Court granted certiorari, vacated and remanded the case in light of the

Court's decision in <u>Espinosa v. Florida</u>. <u>See Hodges v.</u> <u>Florida</u>, 113 S. Ct. 33, 121 L.Ed.2d 6 (1992). On remand from the United States Supreme Court, this Court affirmed the death sentence. <u>Hodges v. State</u>, 619 So. 2d 272 (Fla. 1993).

On June 20, 1995, Mr. Hodges filed a timely, but incomplete Rule 3.850 motion (PC-R. 14-54). Mr. Hodges filed his motion prior to the date that the motion was due in order to obtain public records.

On November 28, 1995, Mr. Hodges filed an amended Rule 3.850 motion, again detailing the problems in securing access to public records (PC-R. 69-197).

On July 31, 1996, Judge Padgett granted an evidentiary hearing on three (3) of Mr. Hodges' claims: ineffective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase, trial counsel was ineffective for failing to develop and present evidence of Mr. Hodges' mental state at the guilt phase and trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to improper comments and instructions that shifted the burden to Mr. Hodges to prove that death was not an appropriate penalty (PC-R. 210-230). Judge Padgett summarily denied all of Mr. Hodges other claims (<u>Id</u>.). As to Mr. Hodges' claim of ineffective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase, Judge Padgett stated: "In the penalty phase, Defendant's counsel only presented two witnesses, Defendant's mother and brother-in-law. Defense counsel asked Defendant's mother very few questions about Defendant's childhood." (PC-R. 8).

On August 16, 1996, Mr. Hodges filed a motion for rehearing (PC-R. 245-264). The court denied the motion (PC-R. 265).

On September 27, 1996, Mr. Hodges filed a motion to compel public records production (PC-R. 266-271). The court granted, in part, Mr. Hodges' motion and ordered production (PC-R. 272).

On February 28, 1997, Mr. Hodges filed an amended motion for postconviction relief under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 (PC-R. 281-289). The State responded to Mr. Hodges' amended 3.850 in November, 1997.

Pursuant to <u>Huff v. State</u>, 622 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1993) and Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851(c), a hearing was held on January 25, 1999, to determine whether Mr. Hodges was entitled to an evidentiary hearing (Supp. T. 1-38). On October 29, 1999, the circuit court issued an order, directing that an evidentiary hearing be held on four (4) claims; three (3) of which he granted an evidentiary hearing on in 1996 (PC-R. 210-230), and an <u>Ake v. Oklahoma</u> claim (PC-R. 730-749).

An evidentiary hearing was scheduled for July, 1999. However, days before the evidentiary hearing was scheduled to begin, Judge Padgett, *sua sponte*, recused himself from presiding over Mr. Hodges' hearing due to the fact that Mr. Hodges' trial attorney was a circuit judge, the Honorable Daniel L. Perry, sitting in the same circuit as Judge Padgett.

This Court appointed the Honorable Dennis P. Maloney,

Circuit Judge in and for the Tenth Judicial Circuit, to preside over Mr. Hodges' evidentiary hearing and case (PC-R. 699).

On September 30, 1999, Mr. Hodges moved to disqualify Judge Maloney when it was revealed that his law clerk communicated, *ex parte*, with the Assistant State Attorney regarding Mr. Hodges' case (PC-R. 700-719). Judge Maloney denied the motion (PC-R. 721). On January 5, 2000, this Court denied Mr. Hodges' writ.

The evidentiary hearing was scheduled for November 2 - 3, 2000 (Supp. R. 85). On October 19, 2000, the State filed a motion to depose Mr. Hodges' experts (PC-R. 890-892). Additionally, two (2) days before the scheduled evidentiary hearing, the State filed a motion for access to Mr. Hodges to conduct a mental health examination (PC-R. 895-899).

After a hearing on the State's motion for access to Mr. Hodges, wherein Mr. Hodges objected to the due process violation committed by the State, the court granted the State's motion (PC-R. 990-992).

Mr. Hodges requested that the circuit court hold his proceedings in abeyance because he filed a Petition for Extraordinary Relief, for a Writ of Prohibition and for a Writ of Mandamus with this Court (PC-R 722-724). The court denied Mr. Hodges' motion to hold the proceedings in abeyance (PC-R. 728). Mr. Hodges filed an emergency petition requesting that this Court allow an interlocutory appeal and stay the circuit

court proceedings (PC-R. 904-1026). This Court dismissed Mr. Hodges' petition on November 17, 2000 (PC-R. 1271).

The evidentiary hearing was conducted on November 2 and 3, 2000 and January 29, 2001.

On June 6, 2001, the circuit court entered an order that denied Mr. Hodges relief. Mr. Hodges timely filed a notice of appeal (PC-R. 1704-1705).

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

## The Trial

In 1987, Betty Ricks was shot and killed as she exited her car at the Beverage Barn in Plant City to begin work in the early morning hours on January 10<sup>th</sup>. In 1989, over two years after Ms. Ricks' death, the police arrested George Michael Hodges and he was indicted for first degree murder (R. 815).

Trial commenced six (6) months after Mr. Hodges' arrest, in July, 1989. The testimony presented at the guilt phase of Mr. Hodges' capital trial was entirely circumstantial.

Over defense objections, the State presented evidence that Ms. Ricks had accused Mr. Hodges of exposing himself to her in November, 1986 (R. 296), and that she was adamant about prosecuting Mr. Hodges (R. 297). Mr. Hodges was directed into an arbitration hearing and was scheduled to attend on January 8<sup>th</sup> (R. 488). That day he called the program and said there was no reason for him to go through the diversion program (R. 489).

Additionally, the State presented a witness, Janetta Hansen, who worked with Mr. Hodges at Zayre, which was located across the street from the Beverage Barn (R. 306). On the morning of the crime, while it was still dark, Ms. Hansen saw a truck that looked like Mr. Hodges' near the Beverage Barn, but she did not see the victim's car (R. 311).

The medical examiner testified that Ms. Ricks had been shot twice (R. 288). Testimony was presented that Mr. Hodges owned a shotgun, as did his step-son (R. 387).

Detective Miller testified that Mr. Hodges maintained that his step-son, Jesse Watson, drove his car to school on the morning of the crime, but returned home around 8:30 a.m. because he felt ill (R. 333).<sup>1</sup> Mr. Hodges also surrendered his shotgun to the police (R. 333).

In order to refute Mr. Hodges' statements, the State presented testimony from Mr. Hodges' family members. Jessie Watson, Mr. Hodges' step-son, testified that he awoke at 5:30 a.m. on the morning of the crime, when he heard Mr. Hodges come home (R. 417). He testified that Mr. Hodges entered the house with his shotgun in his hands (R. 418). Mr. Watson told Mr. Hodges that he was not feeling well and Mr. Hodges told him to drive his truck to school (R. 420). Mr. Watson testified that his shotgun had scratches on it, and he

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Peggy Lewandowski, a neighbor of the Hodges, testified that in 1988 she provided a statement to the police in which she stated that she saw a truck pull in the Hodges' driveway at approximately 8:00 a.m. (R. 353).

identified the shotgun in evidence as his (R. 416).

Mr. Watson testified that he lied to the police when he was interviewed about the crime (R. 425). On cross examination, Mr. Watson testified that Mr. Hodges admitted that he was involved in the crime, but that Mr. Watson did not believe him (R. 428). Mr. Watson was also impeached with letters he wrote to Mr. Hodges, while he was incarcerated, admitting that he lied to the police about Mr. Hodges' alleged confession and informing Mr. Hodges that the police and prosecutors were pressuring him (R. 430). Mr. Watson also admitted that he was a drug addict and that he was undergoing treatment for his problem at the time of the trial (R. 434).

Mr. Hodges' wife, Harriet Hodges, testified that on the evening before the crime, she and Mr. Hodges stayed up late and played cards with some friends (R. 382). When she awoke the morning of the crime she heard Mr. Hodges speaking to her son, Jessie Watson (R. 383). Mr. Watson drove Mr. Hodges' truck to school that morning (R. 386). Mrs. Hodges did not know whether, on the morning of the crime, Mr. Hodges left the house or not (R. 390). Mrs. Hodges also admitted that she had made a false statement to the police in 1987 (R. 393).

Vickie Boatwright, Jesse Watson's girlfriend, testified that Mr. Hodges had told her in 1988, that he had shot a woman and she had died (R. 367). She also testified that Mr. Hodges stated that nothing happened because he gave the police Mr.

Watson's gun. On cross examination, Ms. Boatwright testified that she thought Mr. Hodges was kidding (R. 387). She also admitted that she did not tell the police about this conversation until after she was questioned twice and spoke to Mr. Watson (R. 371).

The defense presented evidence that a witness saw a truck, not Mr. Hodges', in the parking lot of the Beverage Barn around 6:00 a.m., on the morning of January 8<sup>th</sup> (R. 539-541).

Further, Detective Rick Orzechowski testified that he was aware that the victim's step-father ran for a position on the city commission in order to remove the current police chief and replace him with an individual who would pursue the investigation of his step-daughter's murder (R. 299).

The jury convicted Mr. Hodges (R. 650).

On July 14, 1989, one day after the jury found George Hodges guilty of first degree murder, the jury reconvened to hear the penalty phase evidence and recommend whether Mr. Hodges should be sentenced to death or life in prison with a minimum of twenty-five years.

The penalty phase hearing lasted less than forty-five minutes. During that forty-five minutes, the State of Florida presented three witnesses: Detectives Orzechowski and Horn as well as Debra Ricks, the victim's sister. All three of the witnesses' testimony consisted of the hearsay testimony that the victim, Betty Ricks, told them that George approached her

and attempted to convince her to drop the exposure charge (R. 681, 685, 689). During Debra Ricks's testimony the defense objected because she was crying before the jury (R. 688).

Mr. Hodges' trial attorney presented the testimony of two witnesses: Lula Hodges and Harold Stewart, Mr. Hodges' mother and brother-in-law, respectively. Mrs. Hodges testified while her husband sat in the courtroom. Mrs. Hodges testified that George grew up in West Virginia; the family moved around a lot; that George did not finish high school, but obtained a GED and that George's brother drowned and "[i]t seemed to change [George] completely, because they was real close." (R. 694). Mrs. Hodges' testimony is transcribed in less than three pages. Mr. Stewart testified that George was a good worker and a good father (R. 697, 698). His testimony is transcribed in less than two-and-a-half pages. No exhibits were entered.

No mental health testimony was presented to the jury.

The State argued that two aggravating factors applied: 1) the crime was committed to disrupt or hinder the lawful exercise of governmental function or the enforcement of laws; and 2) the crime was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner, without any pretense of moral or legal justification. While the prosecutor argued that two (2) aggravating factors applied in Mr. Hodges' case, he told the jury: "The State of Florida is limited to proving ten aggravating circumstances." (R. 711).

Also, as this Court recognized, the prosecutor made an improper "Golden Rule" argument to the jury which was not objected to by Mr. Hodges' trial counsel. <u>Hodges v. State</u>, 595 So. 2d 929, 933-934 (1992).

> What about life in imprisonment (sic)? What can a person do in jail for life? You can cry. You can read. You can watch TV. You can listen to the radio. You can talk to people. In short, you are alive. People want to live. You are living. All right? If Betty Ricks had had a choice between spending life in prison or lying on that pavement in her own blood, what choice would Betty Ricks have made? But, you see, Betty Ricks didn't have that choice.

(R. 716-717).

Mr. Hodges' trial attorney argued that recommending life for Mr. Hodges would mean that Mr. Hodges would serve a minimum of twenty-five (25) years in prison. Trial counsel then read the entire list of the aggravating circumstances, even those that had already been determined, and the State conceded, were inapplicable to Mr. Hodges' case (R. 722-723). Also, counsel argued that Mrs. Hodges loved her son and the jury should be compassionate (R. 723).

Following closing arguments, the jury was improperly instructed about the cold, calculated and premeditated aggravating factor (R. 726). Trial counsel failed to object to the unconstitutionally vague instruction. <u>Hodges v. State</u>, 619 So. 2d 272, 273 (Fla. 1993). As to mitigation, the jury was told that they could consider "any aspect of the defendant's character or record and any other circumstance of

the offense." (R. 726-727). The jury did not hear the instructions regarding any other statutory mitigators.

During deliberation, the jury requested a list of the inadmissible aggravating circumstances (R. 731).

Also, while the jury deliberated, Mr. Hodges attempted to commit suicide by hanging himself and was taken to the hospital (R. 732). His attorneys did not request that the court inform the jury about the suicide attempt or request the assistance of a mental health expert. However, the court appointed two (2) experts to determine if Mr. Hodges was competent to be sentenced (R. 890).

After hearing almost no evidence about Mr. Hodges' background the jury recommended death by a vote of ten (10) to two (2) (R. 739).

In accordance with the jury's recommendation, the trial court sentenced Mr. Hodges to death. The court found two (2) aggravating circumstances: (1) The crime was committed to disrupt or hinder the lawful exercise of any governmental function or the enforcement of laws; and (2) The crime was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner (R. 906-908). The court's order stated: "the Court has attempted to find mitigating circumstances sufficient in weight to offset the [] aggravating circumstances . . . Mr. Hodges' family has spoken as to his character and dedication to his family." (R. 908). The trial court found no other mitigation.

## The Direct Appeal

During Mr. Hodges' direct appeal, this Court found several errors had occurred at his capital trial. This Court found that inadmissible hearsay was admitted during the guilt phase regarding the victim's statements and state of mind that she was adamant about prosecuting Mr. Hodges for the indecent exposure. <u>Hodges v. State</u>, 595 So. 2d 929, 931-932 (Fla. 1992). However, this Court found that the error was harmless. <u>Id</u>.

Further, this Court found that the prosecutor's closing argument during the penalty phase was error. <u>Id</u>. at 933-934. However, this Court found that the error was harmless and there was no objection. <u>Id</u>.

In light of the limited mitigation, this Court found Mr. Hodges' death sentence proportional. <u>Id</u>. at 935.

This Court also found that the cold, calculated and premeditated instruction was not unconstitutional and the issue was meritless. <u>Hodges</u>, 595 So. 2d at 934. However, the United States Supreme Court vacated Mr. Hodges' sentence and remanded to this Court in light of <u>Espinosa v. Florida</u>, 505 U.S. 1079. <u>Hodges v. Florida</u>, 506 U.S. 803 (1992). On remand, this Court found that the issue was procedurally barred because counsel failed to object at trial. <u>Hodges v. State</u>, 619 So. 2d 272, 273 (Fla. 1993).

# The Evidentiary Hearing

Shortly, before the evidentiary hearing, the State requested leave of the court to depose Mr. Hodges' experts

(PC-R. 890). Mr. Hodges' counsel objected to the timing of the motion since the deposition interfered with counsel's preparation for the hearing and was traveling out-of-state to interview witnesses. Further, less than two (2) weeks remained until the hearing date. The court granted the State's motion and depositions were conducted.

Two (2) days before the date of the evidentiary hearing, the State filed a motion for access to Mr. Hodges in order to conduct a mental health evaluation (PC-R. 895). Mr. Hodges objected to the State's motion because it violated Mr. Hodges' right to due process. The court granted the State's motion (R. 900). One (1) day before the scheduled evidentiary hearing, and weeks after Mr. Hodges filed his witness list, the State informed Mr. Hodges' counsel that Dr. Sidney Merin would appear as a State's witness.

Mr. Hodges requested that the circuit court hold his proceedings in abeyance because he filed a Petition for Extraordinary Relief, for a Writ of Prohibition and for a Writ of Mandamus with this Court (PC-R 722-724). The court denied Mr. Hodges' motion to hold the proceedings in abeyance (PC-R. 728). This Court dismissed Mr. Hodges' petition on November 17, 2000 (PC-R. 1271).

At the evidentiary hearing Mr. Hodges presented several lay witnesses who provided detailed testimony regarding his troubled childhood. These witnesses included his sister Karen Sue Tucker, his brother, Robert Hodges, and family friend

Cecilia Sanson. In addition, Dr. Richard Ball, a sociologist, testified regarding the detrimental effects growing up in the poverty stricken subculture of southern Appalachia where the Hodges lived. Also, Dr. Marlin Delaney, a toxicologist, testified regarding the effects of lead poisoning from the Kanawha River.

Specifically, testimony was presented about the area where Mr. Hodges was raised. Mr. Hodges' older sister, Karen Sue Tucker, testified that the family lived in a small place called Lock Seven, which was located in St. Albans, West Virginia (PC-T. 25). Cecelia Sanson testified that Lock Seven is "mainly [a] community of welfare people, drunks, druggies" (PC-T. 103). Further, Dr. Ball described the area as a "subculture of the southern Appalachian" (PC-T. 460), and he explained that a subculture consists of a "pattern of values that are somewhat different from that prevailing in the rest of the country." (PC-T. 460).

The area was populated with chemical plants and industry (PC-R. 26, 100). In fact, the chemical plants spewed pollutants into the air and river near where the Hodges lived (PC-T. 27).

Chemical wastes and pollutants were dumped into the Kanawha River by the industrial plants causing water pollution so severe that it killed or caused mutations of the fish in the river (PC-T. 109). The waste also effected the taste and created odor problems in public water supplies obtained from

the river (PC-T. 38). Traces of cyanide, manganese, lead, mercury and cadmium were also found in the river (PC-T. 274-75).

The witnesses also described Mr. Hodges' dysfunctional and chaotic family life. Mrs. Tucker testified that the family moved twenty (20) to twenty-five (25) times when she and her siblings were growing up (PC-T. 30). The houses were usually two-bedroom houses, where the five (5) children shared a room and their parents had a room (PC-T. 40). In fact, the children slept in the same bed (<u>Id</u>.). Some of the houses did not have heat or indoor plumbing (PC-T. 39). All of the houses had rats in them (PC-T. 39).

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