IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GEORGE MICHAEL HODGES

Appellant,

vs. 1718 CASE NO. SC01-

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CANDANCE M SABELLA Senior Assistant Attorney General Chief of Capital Appeals Florida Bar No. 0445071 Westwood Center, Suite 700 2002 North Lois Avenue Tampa, Florida 33607-2366 Phone (813) 801-0600 Fax (813) 356-1292

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Even if Hodges could establish that the trial court abused its discretion in permitting the State to obtain its own evaluation of the defendant, there has been no showing that the State in any way violated a discovery order or rule. Hodges' complaint is merely that the request was made shortly before the hearing. This is not a discovery violation. Moreover, even when the State violates a discovery rule, the trial court has discretion to determine whether the alleged violation resulted in harm or prejudice to defendant. "'Procedural prejudice,' as used in the context of a <u>Richardson</u> violation, results when there is 'a reasonable possibility that the defendant's trial preparation or strategy would have been materially different had the violation not occurred.' [<u>State v. Schopp</u>, 653 So. 2d 1016,

1020-21 (Fla. 1995)]" <u>Reese v. State</u>, 694 So. 2d 678, 683 (Fla. 1997). While Hodges makes a general allegation that he was prejudiced by the late request because the State was rewarded by having to spend time before the hearing taking depositions and the State was allowed to present Dr. Merin's testimony in January, 2001, the reverse of that is that it gave him the additional time to prepare for the testimony.

Furthermore, there was no order that the State violated in taking depositions the month before the hearing appeared to finally be going forward after years of delay at the hand of Hodges and as a result of the change of counsel and the presiding circuit judge. There was no discovery violation and no evidence that the defendant's ability to prepare for the hearing was compromised. Accordingly, Hodges is not entitled to relief on this claim.

ISSUE IV

WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE CLAIM THAT TRIAL COUNSEL RENDERED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE DURING THE GUILT AND PENALTY PHASE OF HODGES' TRIAL BY FAILING TO PRESENT EVIDENCE THAT HODGES' MENTAL CAPACITY DID NOT ALLOW HIM THE ABILITY TO COMMIT MURDER IN A COLD, CALCULATED AND PREMEDITATED MANNER.

Hodges' next claim is that counsel was ineffective for failing to present evidence of his mental state which he now claims would negate his ability to commit murder in a cold, calculated manner. He claims that under <u>Bunney v. State</u>, 603 So. 2d 1270 (Fla. 1992) he has a defense to the specific intent element of the crime which should have been presented.

With regard to this claim, the lower court made the following findings:

The facts surrounding the murder belie the defense contention that Hodqes is incapable of this aggravator. When Hodges' efforts to talk the victim out of testifying against him in the indecent exposure charge proved fruitless, he made a decision to kill her. He knew the victim went to work alone very early in the morning. He went to her place of work before she got there and concealed himself and his truck from her sight. After he ambushed her he returned home and exchanged the murder weapon with an identical rifle owned by his stepson. When the police asked for his rifle for ballistic testing, he gave them the stepson's rifle which, of course, proved not to be the rifle from which the fatal projectiles were fired. When interrogated by the police, he provided an alibi and got his wife and stepson to corroborate it. The coverup worked for over a year and probably would have worked indefinitely had not the stepson and wife decided to go to the police and tell the truth. These facts, presented to the jury at trial, belie the

present opinion of certain mental health professionals that Hodges is incapable of a cold, calculated and premeditated murder. The facts speak for themselves and denounce theories incompatible with established fact, albeit that such theories are cloaked in the mantle of "expert opinion".

It is not the Court's intention to denigrate the testimony of the mental health professionals who testified, nor does the court quarrel with the validity of their empirical findings regarding Hodges' Certain opinions, however, alleging mental health. Hodges' inability to carry out this murder do not seem to be firmly grounded and are incompatible with the facts of the case. No reasonable jury could be expected to subscribe to such an untenable argument, flying, as it does, in the face of the facts. Hence, Hodges has failed to show that he was prejudiced by his counsel's failure to advance it.

(PCR 11/1578-79)

Hodges argues that these findings are clearly erroneous and without merit. Whether counsel was ineffective under <u>Strickland</u> <u>v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), is reviewed de novo. <u>Stephens v. State</u>, 748 So. 2d 1028 (Fla. 1999) (requiring de novo review of ineffective assistance of counsel); <u>Sims v.</u> <u>State</u>, 754 So. 2d 657, 670 (Fla. 2000). Both prongs of the <u>Strickland</u> test, i.e., deficient performance and prejudice, present mixed questions of law and fact reviewed de novo on appeal. <u>Cade v. Haley</u>, 222 F.3d 1298, 1302 (11th Cir. 2000) (stating that, although a district court's ultimate conclusions as to deficient performance and prejudice are subject to plenary review, the underlying findings of fact are subject only to clear error review, citing <u>Byrd v. Hasty</u>, 142 F.3d 1395, 1396

(11th Cir. 1998); Strickland, 466 U.S. at 698 (observing that both the performance and prejudice components of the ineffectiveness inquiry are mixed questions of law and fact). The reviewing court should uphold the lower court's factual findings as long as it is supported by competent, substantial Way v. State, 760 So. 2d 903 (Fla. evidence in the record. 2000). The lower court thoroughly addressed the testimony and assessed it in light of the evidence adduced at trial. His findings are clearly supported by the record and should be affirmed.

As to the legal position that this evidence would have negated specific intent, this position is erroneous in fact and law. A similar claim was recently rejected by this Court in <u>Spencer v. State</u>, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S323 (Fla. April 11, 2002), wherein this Court held:

[W]e conclude that the evidence of Spencer's "dissociative state" would not have been admissible during the guilt phase of the trial. "[E]vidence of most mental conditions is simply too misleading to be allowed in the guilt phase." Dillbeck v. State, 643 So.2d 1027, 1029 (Fla.1994). While evidence of voluntary intoxication and of other commonly understood conditions that are beyond one's control, such as epilepsy, are admissible in cases involving specific intent, see id.; see also <u>Bunney v. State</u>, 603 So. 2d 1270 (Fla.1992); <u>Gurganus v. State</u>, 451 So. 2d 817, 822-23 (Fla.1984) ("When specific intent is an element of the crime charged, evidence of voluntary intoxication ... is relevant."), there are limitations regarding the admissibility of evidence of mental disease or defect within the defense of voluntary intoxication. See State v. Bias, 653 So. 2d 380, 382-83 (Fla.1995). As this Court explained in Bias,

such limitations are required "to ensure that the defense of voluntary intoxication is not utilized as a label for what in reality is a defense based upon the doctrine of diminished capacity." <u>Id</u>. Further, "[w]e continue to adhere to the rule that expert evidence of diminished capacity is inadmissible on the issue of mens rea." Id. Thus, we agree with the lower court that counsel's failure to present this evidence did not constitute deficient performance and we affirm the lower court's denial of this claim.

Spencer v. State, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S323 (Fla. April 11, 2002)

Nothing in the testimony presented at the evidentiary hearing mandates a finding that "'counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment.' Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052; see also Cherry v. State, 659 So. 2d 1069, 1072 (Fla. 1995)." Spencer v. State, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S323 (Fla. April 11, 2002). Hodges maintained his innocence of the crime. At trial he presented an alibi defense, claiming that he was home in bed with his wife when the murder happened. (T 5/606) Even if Bunney authorized the use a diminished capacity defense, it would be inconsistent with Hodges' claim of innocence. And, while the inconsistent position could have been asserted in the penalty phase in opposition to the cold, calculated, premeditated aggravator, it must be remembered that counsel testified that he investigated the defendant's background and did not have any evidence of mental incapacity. Trial counsel testified that he hired Dr.

Gamache and Dr. Maher to evaluate Hodges and to determine if there was anything mitigating to present to the jury regarding their mental health. (PCT 15/423) Both experts told him their testimony would not be to Hodges' advantage. (PCT 15/430) Judge Perry testified that if either had told him there was evidence of mental illness he would have pursued it. (PCT 15/430-32) He also testified that he tried to research the defendant's family background but that the family members were not cooperative with the defense. (PCT 15/424) He described the extensive efforts they made to investigate Hodges' background. (PCT 15/425-30) He was not asked about pursuing a diminished capacity defense.

In light of the foregoing, the State maintains that Judge Maloney correctly rejected Hodges' claim.

ISSUE V

WHETHER THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY FOUND HODGES' CLAIM THAT HIS SENTENCE OF DEATH THE FIFTH, SIXTH, VIOLATES EIGHTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS BECAUSE THE BURDEN WAS SHIFTED TO HODGES TO PROVE THAT DEATH WAS INAPPROPRIATE AND BECAUSE THE SENTENCING JUDGE HIMSELF EMPLOYED THIS STANDARD TN SENTENCING HODGES TO DEATH IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

As the lower court found, this claim is procedurally barred. (PCR 11/1579-80) Challenges to the propriety of jury instructions must be presented at trial and on direct appeal. This Court has repeatedly rejected this exact claim as barred. <u>Harvey v. Dugger</u>, 656 So. 2d 1253, 1255-1256 (Fla. 1995); <u>Roberts v. State</u>, 568 So. 2d 1255, 1257-1258 (Fla. 1990). This procedural bar is not excused by the allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel, as the Florida Supreme Court has made it clear that allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel in failing to preserve issue for appeal cannot be used to circumvent rule that post-conviction proceedings cannot serve as second appeal. <u>Cherry v. State</u>, 659 So. 2d 1069 (Fla. 1995).

Whether or not a claim is procedurally barred is reviewed de novo. <u>West v. State</u>, 790 So. 2d 513, 514 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001) (stating that a finding of a procedural bar is reviewed de novo citing <u>Bain v. State</u>, 730 So. 2d 296 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999)). <u>See</u> <u>also Bailey v. Nagle</u>, 172 F.3d 1299, 1302(11th Cir. 1999) (stating that whether a petitioner is procedurally barred from

raising particular claims is a mixed question of law and fact that we review de novo); <u>Greer v. Mitchell</u>, 264 F.3d 663, 673 (6th Cir. 2001) (stating that whether a state court rested its holding on procedural default so as to bar federal habeas review is a question of law that we review de novo); <u>Johnson v. Cain</u>, 215 F.3d 489, 494 (5th Cir. 2000) (reviewing de novo district court's determination that the claim was not barred procedurally).

The claim is also meritless. <u>Preston v. State</u>, 531 So. 2d 154, 160 (Fla. 1988); <u>Arango v. State</u>, 411 So. 2d 172, 174 (Fla.), <u>cert. denied</u>, 457 U.S. 1140 (1982). No relief is warranted.

ISSUE VI

WHETHER THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY FOUND HODGES' CLAIM THAT THE FLORIDA DEATH PENALTY STATUTE APPLIED SENTENCING AS IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL UNDER THE SIXTH, EIGHTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND CORRESPONDING PROVISIONS OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

This claim is procedurally barred for Hodges' failure to raise the issue at trial or on direct appeal.⁴ See Parker v. State, 790 So. 2d 1033, 1034-35 (Fla. 2001) ("Petitioner also asserts entitlement to relief pursuant to the United States Supreme Court's holding in <u>Apprendi v. New Jersey</u>, 530 U.S. 466 (2000). First, the petitioner did not properly preserve the issue for appellate review. Even if he had, we would hold that an argument for relief under <u>Apprendi</u> lacks merit here.") Moreover, this claim is not properly before this Court as it was not presented to the court below in the post-conviction motion.

Furthermore, to the extent that Hodges relies upon the recent decision of <u>Ring v. Arizona</u>, 2002 WL 1357257 (U.S. June 24, 2002), to demonstrate that Florida's death penalty statute is unconstitutional, the State asserts that the <u>Ring</u> decision is not subject to retroactive application under the principles of <u>Witt v. State</u>, 387 So. 2d 922, 929-30 (Fla. 1980).

Finally, Ring does not alter Florida law and provides no

⁴ The standard of review is de novo (see Issue V).

ISSUE VII

WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN DENYING HODGES AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING ON SEVERAL OF HIS CLAIMS.

The lower court correctly denied an evidentiary hearing on several of Hodges' claims that were procedurally barred. A claim of ineffective assistance does not excuse the procedural bar and a post-conviction motion does serve as a second appeal for claims that could have and should have been raised on direct appeal. <u>Thompson v. State</u>, 759 So. 2d 650, 663 (Fla. 2000) (allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel cannot be used to circumvent the rule that postconviction proceedings cannot serve as a second appeal.) Summary denial is appropriate for such claims. <u>Sireci v. State</u>, 773 So. 2d 34, 45 n. 11 (Fla. 2000).

A. Whether the Jury Was Improperly Instructed on the Cold, Calculated, and Premeditated Aggravating Factor.

Hodges' claim that the instructions on the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravator were unconstitutionally vague was summarily denied as procedurally barred:⁵

This issue was previously decided in <u>Hodges v.</u> <u>State</u>, 619 So. 2d 272 (Fla. 1993), after the United States Supreme Court remanded the case for further

⁵ Whether or not a claim is procedurally barred is reviewed de novo. <u>West v. State</u> 790 So. 2d 513, 514 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001).

consideration in light of <u>Espinosa v. Florida</u>. In reaffirming Defendant's conviction and death sentence, the Florida Supreme Court held that there was ample support in the record for finding the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravator, and if any error existed in the instruction, it was harmless and would not have affected the jury's recommendation or the judge's sentence. <u>Id.</u> at 273.

The court also corrected itself and stated that in <u>Hodges v. State</u>, 595 So. 2d 929 (Fla. 1992), it had previously held this claim to be meritless, however, they should have held that the claim was procedurally barred because it had not been preserved for appeal. For that reason, Defendant now raises an ineffective assistance of counsel claim. However, Defendant cannot now raise an ineffective assistance of counsel claim on this issue because the court stated, "Any error in the instruction, if any existed, therefore, was harmless and would not have affected the jury's recommendation or the judge's sentence." <u>Hodges</u>, 619 So. 2d at 273. This claim is denied.

(PCR 11/1596)

Relief was correctly denied by the lower court.

B. Inaccurate Comments of Both the Prosecutor and the Trial Court Greatly Diminished the Jury's Sense of Responsibility in Deciding Whether Hodges Should Live or Die in Violation of the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution.

This claim was also summarily denied as procedurally barred.

(PCR 11/1596) Where, as here, the claim was not raised at trial

nor presented to this Court on direct appeal, the lower court

correctly summarily denied this procedurally barred claim.

<u>Sweet v. State</u>, 810 So. 2d 854, 871 n. 6 (Fla. 2002).

C. The Prosecutor's Misconduct During the Course of Hodges' Case Renders Hodges' Conviction and Death Sentence Fundamentally Unfair and Unreliable in Violation of the Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments.

Although no objection was raised to the now challenged

comment at trial, this claim was raised and rejected on direct appeal. <u>Hodges v. State</u>, 595 So. 2d 929, 934 (Fla. 1992) ("Hodges did not object to the prosecutor's argument and on the circumstances of his case we find the argument harmless error.") Accordingly, the lower court properly found that it was procedurally barred. (PCR 11/1597)

D. Mr. Hodges' Jury Was Misled and Incorrectly Informed about Its Function at Capital Sentencing, in Violation of the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments.

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